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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Meridian House is located at 1630 Crescent Place, west of 16th Street off
Meridian Hill Park. MThis 18th century French style mansion designed by
Russell Pope and its completely landscaped grounds work together as an
architural whole.
Meridian House $s located to the east of the White-Meyer House and faces
north on Crescent Place; the property extends west to 17th Street and south
to Belmont Place. “WThe house is enclosed by concrete walls with limestone
facing; each series of raised panels on the walls is separated by piers
capped by marble spheres or vases. The entrance court screen on the north
is convex and terminated at opposite ends by wooden double gates. The
property is extended to the south by a lardscaped terrace built on a 14'-6"
high platform at first floor height. (The platform originally accommodated
a laundry, garage, storage rooms, and chauffeurs' quarters.) The total
frontage of these buildings on Belmont Place is approximately 140 feet.
The north elevation of the house is three and one half stories, measuring
55 feet from finished grade to roof ridge. Since the basement floor is built
into the terraced platform to the south, this building rises two and one half
stories (45 feet) on the south. The house is 78'-6" square. The north and
south elevations are divided into three bays with a central bow. The north
entrance bow is semi~hexagonal; the south bow is semi-elliptical.
The base of this limestone-sheathed building has a block cap. On the
north elevation, the basement and the first floor are separated by a block
string course. This moulding provides a base for the first floor.  The facadd
is terminated at each end and at the corners by pilasters which rise to sup-
port the cornice. All the windows in the house are casement; the basement
windows have decorative cast iron grilles. Each first and second story .
Vindow is on raised ground broken by a scrolled keystone (with the exception
of the bay above the north entrance which has a keystone carved like a human
mask), and each bay has louvered shutters. The first floor windows have
fillet sills with semi~-circular nosing. The first and second floor windows
have decorative cast iron railings. The exception to the above are the semi-
circular headed windows which flank the north entrance. These windows rest
on the string course separating the first and basement floors; in the center
of each bay this moulding is interrupted by a console which supports an urn.
The north entrance stoop is approached by four risers with treads having
semi-circular nosing. The oak, double entrance door has lattice marquetry
panels and raised middle and upper panels. The limestone bolection archi-
trave is capped by a.panelled frieze and interrupted by a decorative key-
stone. The architrave is set within a splayed, semi-circular archway having
an ornamental key in the form of a helmeted head with swags. The arch panel
is pierced by an oculus flanked by carved sprays.
Ionic columns in-antis separate the first floor bays of the semi-ellipti-
cal bow of the south elevation. The second floor has acanthus-leaf pilasters,
The two floors are separated by a Tuscan string course having a plain frieze
and block cap. The lines of the string course are carried across ou
bow columns as a full entablature which serves as a shallow balcony for t 3
second floor. The balcony has a decorative cast iron railing:!ighegthree
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated Meridian House (The
Washington International Center) a Category II Landmark of importance which
contributes significantly to the cultural heritage and visual beauty of the
District of Columbia, John Russell Pope was commissioned by Imwin Boyle
Laughlin (a Jones and Laughlin Steel heir and noted diplomat) to build
Meridian House, which was completed by 1923, This 18th Century French style
mansion is located on Crescent Place in the Meridian Hill area of Washington,
The house presently serves as the Washington International Center., The pur-
pose of the Center is to acquaint overseas visitors with contemporary life
in the United States. The house with its well landscaped and terraced
orounds, and its excellent interiors has been well maintained.

The site of Meridian House is a part of Hall and Elvans' Meridian Hill
Subdivision of 1867. In 1912 the property was purchased by Irwin Boyle
Laughlin, the grandson of one of the founders of Jones and Laughlin Steel.

He held many important diplomatic posts including Secretary of the Embassy in
Tondon from 1912 to 1917; United States Minister to Greece from 1924 to 1926,
and Ambassador to Spain from 1929 to 1933,

Assessment records indicate that construction of the house began about
1921 and was completed in 1923, Laughlin, a friend of the diplomat Henry
White, built his house next to White and selected the same architect, John
Russell Pope. Pope (1874-1937) enjoyed a reputation as one of this country's
most notable architects and designed numerous buildings in this country as
well as abroad. 1In London he designed the Duveen wing of the British Museum
and the new scupture halls of the Tate Gallery. 1In Washington he was re-
spongible for the National Gallery of Art and the Jefferson Memorisl as well
as many other private and public buildings.

In 1923 Laughlin's wife purchased the lot adjoining the property's
western border and another purchase in 1929 extended the property's boundary
to 17th Street. Irwin died in 1941, but his wife continued to live in the
house until 1956.

In 1960, Laughlin's daughter sold the property to the American Council om
Education. The Washington International Center was established by ACE to
provide orientation for overseas visitors to the U.S. Center programs are
conducted in Meridian House which was acquired through a grant by the Ford
Foundation. The Center is presently owned and administered by Meridian
flouse International, a non-profit cultural and educational organization.
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7. Description - Meridian House

French doors of the south bow have semi-circular transoms with moulded imposts
and decorative keystones. The French doors flanking the bow are each on a
raised ground; both doors have a rectangular transom and a scrolled keystone.
The full Tuscan entablature has a diminutive architrave. The cornice is
capped by a panelled balustrade with urn balusters centered over each bay.
The slate roof is mansard in shape. The north and south elevations have three,
segmentally-arched and hooded casement dormers; the east and west elevations
each have four. (The exception is the bay over the north entrance, which has
a semi-circular head and return hood.)

N\ The hexagonal entrance bow gives access to the circular entrance stair
hall, The curved double stair with its wrought and cast iron arabesque
railing rises to the central gallery on the first floor. The gallery with its
mirrored walls and doors with ovolo architraves with oval paintings in the
18th century manner leads to the south to the oval loggia. Here the doorways
and raised wall panels are flanked by Ionic pilasters. To the east of the
entrance hall are the library with wood panelling painted green and gilded
mouldings and the drawing room also painted green. To the west of the
entrance hall is the dining room with a 16th century tapestry framed by an
ovolo moulding in its west wall. The breakfast rooms, the pantry and service
core are also located on the west side. The second floor has a central hall
and utility core with periphery bedroom suites. The third floor has a central
light court, surrounded by a corridor with periphery servants' quarters. A
studio room is on the south. The interior has been well maintained and is in
an excellent state of preservation.

GPO 921.724
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